FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
7/24/2020 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/24/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98810-2__
(Court of Appeals No. 35297-8-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHAD BENNETT,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

The State charged Chad Bennett with first-degree murder but the jury acquitted him of that crime and convicted him of second-degree murder. The trial court nevertheless imposed a sentence that was double what Mr. Bennett could have received if he had been convicted of the greater crime. This occurred because of two aggravating factors that are unconstitutionally vague and unsupported by the evidence.

Seventeen years ago, this Court held defendants could not challenge aggravating factors as vague in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. But in light of later watershed opinions of the U.S. Supreme Court, this Court has twice recently assumed such challenges *could* be made. In these cases, this Court addressed the issues and rejected defendants' claims on the merits. Yet, all three divisions of the Court of Appeals have insisted defendants still may not even *raise* an issue of unconstitutional vagueness – let alone prevail – until and unless this Court explicitly overrules the old case.

This foreclosure of a legitimate constitutional issue must stop. A defendant's right to due process is violated when he is convicted and sentenced under a law that is either facially vague or vague as applied. For this reason, and because several other errors pervaded trial and sentencing, this Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Chad Bennett, through his attorney, Lila J. Silverstein, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Bennett*, No. 35297-8-III (filed June 25, 2020), attached as Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Sentencing issues:

- a. May defendants challenge aggravating factors, which are simply elements of a greater crime, as vague in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment?
- b. Are the “deliberate cruelty” and “vulnerable victim” aggravating factors unconstitutionally vague, either facially or as applied to the facts of this case?
- c. Did the State present insufficient evidence to support the aggravating factors?
- d. Regardless of the validity of the aggravators, is the length of the sentence arbitrary and excessive?

2. Trial issues:

- a. Did the trial court err by denying a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss for government mismanagement, where the State withheld over 200 hours of recordings of telephone calls and failed to perform DNA testing on the victim’s shirt until 21 months after charging Mr. Bennett with murder, forcing him to choose between his constitutional rights to a speedy trial and prepared counsel?
- b. Did the trial court violate Mr. Bennett’s constitutional right to present a defense by excluding “other suspect” evidence on the basis that Mr. Bennett failed to show the other suspects took

“some affirmative step towards actually doing the crime,” where case law has explicitly rejected this requirement?

- c. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Mr. Bennett of a fair trial, where the prosecutor made many improper statements, including assuring the jury this case was “the biggest example of due process” the State had ever seen, that there was “no rush to judgment,” and that the detectives did not make a snap decision “to arrest the wrong man?”

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Chad Bennett is a young husband and father of four children. RP (3/14/17) 7289-91. He and his family lived with his brother for a time, but when Chad’s daughter revealed her uncle sexually abused her, Mr. Bennett immediately reported the crime and moved his family out of the home. CP 12, 964-66; RP (5/12/17) 8746. The Bennetts then rented a house from Lucille Moore, who owned and rented out several homes in her Ephrata neighborhood. RP (2/28/17) 5436; RP (3/14/17) 7294-95.

On September 7, 2014, Mr. Bennett went to Ms. Moore’s home to pay rent. RP (3/14/17) 7305. According to Bennett, he was at Ms. Moore’s house three times that day: once to pay rent, once to pay the remainder of the deposit, and once to retrieve his wallet, which he had inadvertently left behind. RP (3/14/17) 7316; RP (3/15/17) 7406-07, 7409-10.

On September 8, 2014, Ms. Moore’s neighbor found her lying on the floor with a pillow over her face and blood all over her shirt. RP

(2/15/17) 4277, 4347-49. The forensic pathologist and crime scene specialist determined Ms. Moore had died quickly after being knocked to the ground, strangled, and stabbed. RP (2/22/17) 4880; RP (2/23/17) 5108.

During their investigation, detectives learned that multiple tenants were behind on rent, that Ms. Moore's daughter and her boyfriend made suspicious statements, and that Mr. Bennett was in Ms. Moore's home the day she died. CP 8, 16, 57, 64, 66, 68. Detectives sent several items to the crime lab for testing, and learned that Mr. Bennett's DNA, along with the DNA of two others, was on the pillow. CP 15. The scientist determined that Mr. Bennett was a "heavy shedder," meaning he deposits more DNA than average with each touch. RP (7/5/16) 42-43; RP (3/2/17) 5791.

In November of 2014, detectives arrested Chad Bennett and the State charged him with first-degree murder. CP 1-16. Trial was continued numerous times. Finally, after Mr. Bennett had been held in jail for 21 months, trial was set to begin imminently. However, at the end of June, 2016, the prosecution gave the defense: (1) over 200 hours of recordings the detective had collected for 21 months but purposely withheld, and (2) the results of DNA testing on the victim's shirt, which the State had just performed even though it had had the shirt since September of 2014. CP 144, 148, 155, 175-76, 182, 203-04; RP (7/5/16) 32-33. Mr. Bennett moved to dismiss the charge for government mismanagement. CP 139-

268; RP (7/5/16) 31-37. The court agreed the government committed misconduct, but ruled it could “ameliorate the problem” with a continuance. RP (7/5/16) 55, 77, 81-83; CP 287. Mr. Bennett was accordingly forced to waive his right to a speedy trial. RP (7/6/16) 87-90.

Trial occurred in the fall of 2016. The State urged the jury to convict Mr. Bennett of murder, contending his statements about when he was at Ms. Moore’s house and when he was in other locations did not make sense, and that he did not pay rent that day but instead killed Ms. Moore. RP (10/17/16) 2676-2769. The defense urged the jury to acquit because the State failed to prove Mr. Bennett’s DNA was on the items in question because he killed Ms. Moore rather than because he was in the house paying rent, and the killer could have been Ms. Moore’s daughter or another tenant. RP (10/17/16) 2775-2838; RP (10/18/16) 2858-2901.

After deliberating for a significant time, the jury indicated it was deadlocked, and the court declared a mistrial. RP (10/24/16) 3028-31.

The State planned to retry Mr. Bennett, although it admitted in its motions in limine that “[e]vidence linking the defendant to the murder is circumstantial, and much of it is inconclusive.” CP 1272. Before the second trial, the State moved to prohibit Mr. Bennett from arguing that other suspects may have committed the crime. CP 1214-20. The court granted the motion over Mr. Bennett’s objection. CP 866-70, 1220.

At the second trial, Bennett testified in his own defense, and the State introduced recordings of telephone conversations between Bennett and his wife in which Mr. Bennett said, “You know that I did it and you were there with me.” RP (3/14/17) 7288; RP (3/20/17) 7916; CP 1307. Bennett and his wife testified they were not talking about this case while the State argued they were discussing Ms. Moore’s murder. RP (3/16/17) 7803; RP (3/20/17) 7916; RP (3/22/17) 8315. The State told the jury that Bennett “snapped” and killed Moore because he could not pay her the rent money that was overdue. RP (3/22/17) 8317, 8320; RP (3/23/17) 8567. The jury acquitted Mr. Bennett of first-degree murder, but convicted him of the lesser offense of second-degree murder. CP 1652-53. The jury also found the two alleged aggravating circumstances applied: “deliberate cruelty” and “particularly vulnerable victim.” 1656-57.

Bennett moved to vacate the aggravators for insufficient evidence and vagueness. CP 1904-13, 2206-22; RP (5/12/17) 8738-44. He moved for a sentence within the standard range of 134-234 months. *Id.* The court rejected the arguments and imposed an exceptional sentence of 660 months – double what Bennett could have received for first-degree murder, of which he was acquitted. CP 2141-42; RP (5/12/17) 8760-61.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. The dissent would have remanded for resentencing based on insufficient evidence of “deliberate cruelty.”

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The sentence violates due process in several respects, and the Court of Appeals refuses to address vagueness challenges.

This Court should grant review because Mr. Bennett’s exceptional and excessive sentence violates his right to due process and demonstrates broad problems with aggravating factors in Washington. Second-degree murder is a serious crime which warranted a serious sentence of 134-234 months. But the sentence was essentially tripled based on vague and unsupported assertions that this spontaneous, quick killing was somehow “deliberately cruel” in a way others are not, and that the victim was selected for her “vulnerability” when in fact the evidence showed she was selected because of her status as a landlord. Courts must take challenges to such sentences seriously, but the Court of Appeals has refused to even consider arguments that aggravators are unconstitutionally vague. This Court should address the issues. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

a. All three divisions of the Court of Appeals wrongly prohibit defendants from challenging aggravating factors as vague.

The due process clause prohibits the deprivation of life, liberty, or property “under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it

invites arbitrary enforcement.” *Johnson v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2556, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569 (2015); U.S. Const. amend XIV.

The Court of Appeals ruled a defendant may not even *challenge* aggravating factors as unconstitutionally vague, noting all three divisions of the court had recently so held. Op. at 74 (citing *State v. DeVore*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 651, 413 P.3d 58 (2018) (Division Three), *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1005 (2018); *State v. Brush*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 40, 425 P.3d 545 (2018) (Division Two), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1012 (2019); *State v. Lloyd*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1060, 2018 WL 8642839 (Division One), (unpublished) <http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/751115.pdf>., *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1016 (2018)).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals’ conclusion, the void-for-vagueness doctrine applies to aggravating factors just as it applies to the other elements of a crime. And it applies to “statutes fixing sentences.” *Johnson*, 135 S. Ct. at 2557 (invalidating “residual clause” of Armed Career Criminal Act as unconstitutionally vague).

The Court of Appeals relied on an outdated opinion of this Court holding aggravating circumstances were not subject to vagueness challenges. *State v. Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d 448, 459, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003). *Baldwin* reasoned the void-for-vagueness doctrine did not apply to aggravating factors because they were just “sentencing guidelines” that

did not “vary the statutory maximum and minimum penalties assigned to illegal conduct by the legislature.” *Id.* at 459. The Court of Appeals has recently continued to cite this logic, stating an aggravating factor “does not increase the permissible sentence of the offender.” Op. at 74 (quoting *Devore*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 665); *see also* RP (5/22/17) 8771-72 (trial court makes similar statement).

This statement is indisputably wrong. *See* RCW 9.94A.537; *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 303, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). Following *Blakely*, our legislature amended the SRA such that the maximum punishment available absent a jury’s finding of aggravating circumstances is the top of the standard range – here, 234 months. RCW 9.94A.537; CP 2141-42. Second-degree murder *plus one or more aggravating factors* can result in a sentence of up to life imprisonment. RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537; RCW 9A.32.050; RCW 9A.20.021(1)(a). Because these aggravators significantly increase the available punishment, they are subject to due process limitations, including the prohibition on vague laws. *Cf. State v. Allen*, 192 Wn.2d 526, 534-35, 543-44, 431 P.3d 117 (2018) (recognizing aggravating factors are elements of a crime and therefore are subject to the constitutional protections applicable to elements).

In misapprehending the maximum punishment available absent the aggravators, the Court of Appeals followed a case addressing the *federal* sentencing guidelines, which operate differently from Washington’s SRA. Op. at 74 (citing *Beckles v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 886, 197 L. Ed. 2d 145 (2017)). As the court noted, *Beckles* rejected a vagueness challenge to an enhancement under the federal guidelines, because those guidelines are merely “advisory” – they do “not fix the permissible range of sentences” but “merely guide[] the exercise of a court’s discretion in choosing an appropriate sentence.” *DeVore*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 664 (citing *Beckles*, 137 S. Ct. at 892).

The same is not true in Washington: our laws specify a range of available sentences for crimes absent aggravating circumstances, and specify a greatly *increased* range of available sentences for crimes with aggravating circumstances. RCW 9.94A.505 (1), (2)(a)(i), (x); RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.535; RCW 9.94A.537; RCW 9A.32.050; RCW 9A.20.021 (1)(a). Thus, the laws permitting these increased sentences must be stated with sufficient clarity and must not be subject to arbitrary enforcement. But only one judge across all three divisions of the Court of Appeals has understood this to be true. *See State v. Santos*, 2020 WL 2079271 at 17-19 (Pennell, C.J., dissenting on this issue) (unpublished, citing for fact of dissent, not authority).

This Court signaled in two recent cases that defendants *could* challenge aggravating factors as unconstitutionally vague, but the Court of Appeals was unmoved by these opinions. Op. at 75 (acknowledging *State v. Murray*, 190 Wn.2d 727, 732 n.1, 416 P.3d 1225 (2018); *State v. Duncalf*, 177 Wn.2d 289, 298, 300 P.3d 352 (2013)). The Court of Appeals stated it will not permit defendants to challenge aggravating factors as unconstitutionally vague, either on their face or as applied, until this Court explicitly overrules *Baldwin*. Op. 75. This Court should grant review and do just that. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

- b. The “deliberate cruelty” and “vulnerable victim” aggravating factors are unconstitutionally vague and unsupported by the evidence.

The factors used here to greatly increase Mr. Bennett’s sentence are unconstitutionally vague and were supported by insufficient evidence.

To aggravate a crime based on “deliberate cruelty,” the State must prove cruelty beyond that which is usually associated with the offense in question, and must show “gratuitous violence or other conduct which inflicts physical, psychological, or emotional pain as an end in itself.” *State v. Tili*, 148 Wn.2d 350, 369, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003). Thus, for instance, when defendants torture people for an extended period of time before killing them, this aggravator applies. *E.g. State v. Scott*, 72 Wn. App. 207, 214-15, 866 P.2d 1258 (1993), *aff’d sub nom State v. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d

388, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995), *abrogated on other grds. by State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 694-95, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). But here, the State presented no evidence of gratuitous violence or torture; on the contrary, its evidence showed the violence was inflicted for the purpose of killing Ms. Moore and that the death occurred quickly. CP 2242; RP (2/22/17) 4880-81; RP (2/23/17) 5101-02, 5108; *see also* RP (3/22/17) 8322 (prosecutor in closing acknowledges quick death). Thus, insufficient evidence supports this aggravator, as the dissenting judge in this case recognized. Op. at 67 n. 6. Moreover, if this evidence *does* constitute sufficient evidence of “deliberate cruelty” warranting a vastly increased sentence, then this aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague.

The same is true for the second aggravator, which requires not just that the victim be “particularly vulnerable,” but that this vulnerability be a “substantial factor” in the commission of the crime. *State v. Suleiman*, 158 Wn.2d 280, 291-92, 143 P.3d 795 (2006); CP 1624. Here, the State did not present any evidence – let alone evidence showing beyond a reasonable doubt – that Ms. Moore’s alleged vulnerability was a “substantial factor” in the commission of the offense. The State only presented evidence supporting its theory that Mr. Bennett “snapped” and killed Ms. Moore because he could not afford to pay her the rent that was overdue. RP (2/15/17) 4313-14; RP (3/6/17) 6197; RP (3/22/17) 8317, 8320; RP

(3/23/17) 8567 (State’s closing argument); CP 1910-11 (Defense sentencing memorandum). In rejecting this argument, the Court of Appeals invented a theory of the case that was never presented by the State and that conflates the two requirements of this aggravator (actual vulnerability and “substantial factor”). *See Op.* at 68-70. Moreover, as with the “deliberate cruelty” aggravator, if the evidence presented here could possibly be deemed sufficient to find vulnerability was a substantial factor, then this aggravator is unconstitutionally vague.

c. The sentence length is arbitrary and excessive.

Even if the aggravators were not vague and were supported by sufficient evidence, the sentence length is arbitrary and excessive and should be reversed pursuant to RCW 9.94A.585(4)(b). The sentencing judge imposed a 660-month sentence for untenable reasons, stating he was going to use the same “multiplier” used in *Scott, supra*, and accordingly impose *three* times “the higher end of the applicable standard range.” RP (5/12/17) 8761. But *Scott* was convicted of *four* aggravating factors while Mr. Bennett had only two. *Scott*, 72 Wn. Pp. at 210, 214-18; CP 2138. Moreover, *Scott* was convicted of *first-degree* murder while Mr. Bennett was acquitted of that crime and convicted only of the lesser crime of second-degree murder. *Scott*, 72 Wn. App. at 209; CP 1652-53. *Cf. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d at 416 (Madsen, J., dissenting) (“If Hamrick was

effectively going to be punished for a class A felony, he should have been charged with such a crime. The trial court should not be allowed to get there under exceptional sentencing. Hamrick's sentence is clearly excessive and should be remanded for resentencing.).

Additionally, the sentence was clearly excessive in light of Mr. Bennett's youth. CP 1911. While the court in *Scott* stated any argument citing youth as a mitigating factor "borders on the absurd," *Scott*, 72 Wn. App. at 218, that view has obviously been roundly rejected in more recent cases. *E.g. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 695. Mr. Bennett was 24 years old – an age when the parts of the brain involved in behavior control are continuing to develop and the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences are diminished. *Id.* at 691-92; CP 2242. For this reason, too, the court's reliance on *Scott* was untenable and the sentence is excessive.

In sum, this case illustrates a plethora of problems associated with aggravating factors and exceptional sentences. All three divisions of the Court of Appeals refuse to even permit argument regarding one serious constitutional concern, while a dissenting judge here agreed insufficient evidence supports an aggravator. The failure to address the legitimate legal issues regarding aggravating factors leads to excessive and unfairly imposed sentences like the one given here. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. Serious errors deprived Mr. Bennett of a fair trial.

This Court should also review the trial errors. Government mismanagement forced Mr. Bennett to choose between his rights to prepared counsel and a speedy trial; the trial court prohibited an “other suspect” defense under a standard courts have disavowed; and prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Bennett of a fair trial.

- a. Government mismanagement forced Mr. Bennett to choose between his rights to a speedy trial and prepared counsel.

After Mr. Bennett had been in jail for 21 months and trial had been continued multiple times, the State provided the defense with (1) a lab report stating Mr. Bennett’s DNA was found on the victim’s shirt, and (2) a CD containing over 200 hours of recordings of telephone calls, which Detective Huffman admitted he had purposely withheld until just before trial. CP 143-44, 148, 155, 175-76, 182, 203-04, 267-68, 285-86; RP (7/5/16) 32-33. Mr. Bennett moved to dismiss the charge or suppress the evidence for government mismanagement . CP 139-268; RP (7/5/16) 31-38.

Dismissal or suppression is appropriate where a defendant shows: (1) governmental mismanagement, and (2) prejudice. *State v. Dailey*, 93 Wn.2d 454, 457, 610 P.2d 357 (1980); *State v. Barry*, 184 Wn. App. 790, 797, 339 P.3d 200 (2014). Here, the trial court explicitly found

mismanagement and implicitly found prejudice. The court acknowledged it appeared “Mr. Bennett has been placed in a position where he has to choose between the effective assistance of counsel and a speedy trial. And that that delay is due to the state’s failure to test this shirt a year and a half ago.” RP (7/5/16) 81. Addressing the hundreds of hours of recordings, the judge said, “The court rule makes it mandatory to disclose that stuff.” RP (7/5/16) 82. But the court refused to apply the remedy of dismissal or suppression on the basis that a continuance past the expiration date could “ameliorate the problem.” RP (7/5/16) 55.

The court erred in reaching this conclusion and failing to apply a remedy for the mismanagement. As the court recognized, the State’s mismanagement forced Mr. Bennett to choose between his constitutional rights to prepared counsel and a speedy trial. Where the State’s mismanagement creates this “Hobson’s choice,” prejudice is shown and the court may not force the defendant to make this choice; instead, the charge should be dismissed or the evidence suppressed. *See State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997); *State v. Sherman*, 59 Wn. App. 763, 769, 801 P.2d 274 (1990).

The Court of Appeals resolved the issue primarily by questioning the trial court’s (correct) finding of mismanagement. It claimed Mr. Bennett should receive no remedy for the State’s purposeful withholding

of over 200 hours of recordings because “the fact of the recordings and the contents of those conversations were within Bennett’s own knowledge cannot be a surprise to him.” Op. at 20. By that logic, the State never has to disclose evidence against a defendant, because a person the State believes is guilty already knows what he did. The rule is to the contrary: the State must disclose to the defense “any written or recorded statements and the substance of any oral statements made by the defendant, or made by a codefendant if the trial is to be a joint one.” CrR 4.7(a)(1)(ii).

As to the late DNA test of the shirt, the Court of Appeals stated:

Bennett has no grounds to claim mismanagement. Even though the State had the blood-soaked shirt since September 2014, Bustamante had favored testing in June 2016 because he believed the results would be exculpatory. It is apparent that Bennett rolled the dice, gambling that the test results would be exculpatory. Bennett’s failure to object to the late testing—indeed his agreement to it—renders the trial court’s decision to grant a two-month continuance very reasonable..

Op. at 23-24. This overruling of the trial court’s mismanagement finding makes no sense. A defendant cannot object to the State’s decision to subject evidence to DNA testing; he may only object to the use of the test results *at trial*. That is exactly what Mr. Bennett did, requesting either dismissal or suppression. The problem is the trial court recognized Mr. Bennett was forced to choose between two constitutional rights, but forced him to make that choice anyway. This Court should grant review.

- b. The trial court violated Mr. Bennett’s constitutional right to present a defense by excluding “other suspect” evidence on an improper basis.

At the first trial, Mr. Bennett was permitted to point to other suspects and the judge granted a mistrial after the jury could not reach a verdict. RP (10/17/16) 2775-2838; RP (10/18/16) 2858-2901; RP (10/24/16) 3028-31. But at the second trial, the trial court granted the State’s motion to exclude other suspect evidence and argument. CP 1214-20. Mr. Bennett objected, because he wished to present evidence and argument that Ms. Moore’s daughter and her boyfriend or Ms. Moore’s tenants Charles and Brandi Larr may have committed the crime. CP 866-70. The court recognized Mr. Bennett offered strong evidence of motive and opportunity for these other suspects, but it granted the State’s motion to exclude the evidence on the basis that Mr. Bennett had failed to show another suspect took “some affirmative step towards actually doing the crime[.]” RP (2/6/17) 3171.

This is not the law. “[C]ase law has never held that ‘other suspect’ evidence must be excluded when a defendant cannot prove that the identified perpetrator had taken steps to commit the crime.” *State v. Ortuño-Perez*, 196 Wn. App. 771, 790, 385 P.3d 218 (2016). Rather, if the proffered evidence “tends to create a reasonable doubt as to the *defendant’s* guilt,” then it must be admitted because a defendant has a

constitutional right to present a defense. *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 381, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). This Court should grant review.

c. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Bennett of a fair trial.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by citing facts not in evidence, offering personal opinions, issuing emotional appeals, shifting the burden of proof, undermining the presumption of innocence, or trivializing the jury's role. *State v. Walker*, 182 Wn.2d 463, 479, 341 P.3d 976 (2015); *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 436, 326 P.3d 125 (2014); *In re the Personal Restraint of Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

Here, the prosecutor:

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