FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2020 9:29 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 988102 Court of Appeals No. 35297-8-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

ν.

# CHAD GERRIT BENNETT, Petitioner

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GARTH DANO
GRANT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Katharine W. Mathews, WSBA No. 20805 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823 PH: (509) 794-2011

# **

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. WHETHER THE ISSUES RAISED IN BENNETT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW WARRANT THIS COURT'S CONSIDERATION WHEN THEY FAIL TO SATISFY THE EXCLUSIVE CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B).
- B. Whether Bennett can argue his sentence violates due process when aggravating circumstances under RCW 9.94A.535(3) are not subject to a void-for-vagueness challenge, and *Baldwin* remains good law.
- C. WHETHER, ABSENT ANY IDENTIFIED OR ARGUED CONDITIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW,
  BENNETT IS ENTITLED TO A DO-OVER IN THIS COURT OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT ARGUMENTS CORRECTLY REJECTED BY THE TRIAL COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State relies on its Statement of the Case in the Brief of Respondent filed in the Court of Appeals, No. 35297-8-III, and on the facts recited in the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, No. 35297-8-III, at 1–16.

#### III. REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

A. THE ISSUES RAISED IN BENNETT'S PETITION DO NOT WARRANT THIS COURT'S REVIEW BECAUSE THEY FAIL TO SATISFY THE EXCLUSIVE CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW REQUIRED BY RAP 13.4(B).

Nowhere in his Petition does Bennett discuss or argue the considerations governing acceptance of review required by RAP 13.4(b). Although he cites three times to "RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4)," Petition for

Review at 7, 11, 14, he neither quotes nor paraphrases those two conditions, nor does he argue how they apply to the rejection by the Court of Appeals of his asserted sentencing and trial errors.

This Court resolved the constitutional issues surrounding challenges to Washington's aggravating factors in *State v. Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d 448, 459, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003). That this Court has already concluded *Baldwin* remains the law following *Blakely v. Washington*, is demonstrated by its denial of petitions for review in *State v. DeVore*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 651, 413 P.3d 58 (2018) (Division Three), *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1005 (2018); *State v. Brush*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 40, 425 P.3d 545 (2018) (Division Two), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1012 (2019); and *State v. Lloyd*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1060, 2018 WL 8642839 (Division One), (unpublished) http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/751115.pdf., *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1016 (2018). In this case, Division Three recognized as settled whether aggravating factors listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3) are subject to a void-for-vagueness challenge and its companion question concerning the continued viability of *Baldwin* following *Blakely*.

Nor does Bennett develop his bald assertion-by-citation that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest, which might bring it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)

into this Court's purview under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court does not review assigned error absent adequate development of the argument in the proponent's brief. *State v. Dennison*, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). It should deny to do so here.

Neither do RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) apply. As Bennett recognizes, *DeVore*, *Brush*, and *Lloyd* establish a lack of conflict between Division Three and this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and among the three divisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Thus none of the predicate requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1) through (4) are present, review is unwarranted, and Bennett's Petition must be denied.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY CONCLUDED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ARE NOT ELEMENTS OF A GREATER CRIME AND MAY NOT BE CHALLENGED AS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE. *BALDWIN* REMAINS GOOD LAW.

Bennett is incorrect—the statement that an aggravating factor does not increase an offender's permissible sentence is not "indisputably wrong." Pet. at 9. Bennett's cited authority for this proposition is *State v*. *Allen*, 192 Wn.2d 526, 431 P.3d 117 (2018), inapplicable here. *Allen* concerned the 14 aggravating circumstances identified in RCW 10.95.020 under which first-degree murder is elevated to aggravated first-degree murder. The question in *Allen* was whether those aggravating circumstances increased the mandatory minimum penalty for first-degree

murder. *Allen*, 192 Wn.2d at 534. Nothing in that opinion changed *Baldwin's* rule precluding vagueness challenges to the aggravators set out under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) in RCW 9.94A.535(3). The SRA does not require that a trial judge sentence a defendant above the standard range if an aggravating factor is present. "[T]he due process considerations that underlie the void-for-vagueness doctrine [still] have no application in the context of sentencing guidelines." *Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d at 459.

Under the doctrine of stare decisis, courts must adhere to a prior ruling absent a clear showing the ruling is "incorrect and harmful." *In re Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). Precedent is not "lightly set aside." *State v. Kier*, 164 Wn.2d 798, 804, 194 P.3d 212 (2008). Mr. Bennett failed to show below that *Baldwin*'s rule was either incorrect *or* harmful and has failed to establish any authority for that argument here.

Division Three correctly rejected Bennett's argument that *Blakely* v. *Washington*, <sup>2</sup> then *Johnson* v. *United States*, <sup>3</sup> resurrected the viability of vagueness challenges to the sentencing aggravators of RCW 9.94A.535(3). As the State pointed out, the provision of the Armed Career

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 2551, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569 (2015)

Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C. §924(e)(1), struck down in *Johnson*, was subject to a due process vagueness challenge because it required the imposition of a specific aggravated sentence. The aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535 do not require the imposition of an exceptional sentence, much less a sentence of a specified duration. Instead, the statute recites circumstances that "may" justify a sentence outside the standard range. RCW 9.94A.535. The trial court retains absolute discretion to decide whether the jury's finding of an aggravating circumstance is a substantial and compelling reason to impose a higher sentence. RCW 9.94A.537(6).

A more recent United States Supreme Court case rejected a vagueness challenge to a provision of the federal sentencing guidelines because, like Washington's Sentencing Reform Act, the provision did not require an aggravated sentence, but instead "advise[d] sentencing courts how to exercise their discretion within the bounds established by Congress." *Beckles v. United States*, 137 S. Ct. 886, 895, 197 L. Ed. 2d 145 (2017). Although *Beckles* addressed the purely advisory federal sentencing guidelines and is thus distinguishable from Washington's mandatory standard sentencing ranges, the ruling is entirely consistent with *Baldwin*'s holding that "'laws that dictate particular decisions given particular facts can create liberty interests, but laws granting a significant degree of discretion cannot.' "150 Wn.2d at 460 (quoting *In re Pers*.

Restraint of Stranguer, 123 Wn.2d 138, 144, 866 P.2d 8 (1994)).

Bennett here repeats his assertion that this Court's recent decision in *State v. Murray*,<sup>4</sup> and the earlier *State v. Duncalf*,<sup>5</sup> are evidence the Court tacitly reversed itself by deciding vagueness challenges on their merits. This conclusion is unwarranted. In *Murray*, this Court recognized in a footnote the "broader question of whether aggravators listed in RCW 9.94A.535 are subject to void for vagueness challenges[,]" stating:

We need not resolve this question because even if we assume that Murray can bring a void for vagueness challenge, the rapid recidivism aggravator was not void as applied to him. As a result, we do not reach the broader question of whether aggravators listed in RCW 9.94A.535 are subject to void for vagueness challenges generally.

Murray, 190 Wn.2d at 732 n.1 (emphasis added). The earlier Duncalf decision foreshadowed Murray, stating it was unnecessary to address whether Baldwin survived Blakely: "Even assuming the vagueness doctrine applies in this case, Duncalf's challenge to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y) is unavailing." "Even if we assume" and "Even assuming" do not convey a reversal of Baldwin.

Baldwin is still the law in Washington, and, as noted above, has been recognized as such by all three divisions of the Court of Appeals.

This Court should not accept review on a settled issue merely because an

<sup>4 190</sup> Wn.2d 727, 416 P.3d 1225 (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 177 Wn.2d 289, 298, 300 P.3d 352 (2013).

appellant asserts otherwise, and especially not when the argument fails to identify circumstances satisfying at least one of the four exclusive grounds for review required by RAP 13.4(b).

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS, LIKE THE TRIAL COURT, CORRECTLY REJECTED BENNETT'S ASSERTIONS OF PREJUDICIAL PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, AND BENNETT HAS CITED NO CONDITIONS UNDER RAP 13.4(B) THAT WOULD WARRANT THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

Bennett's second argument for review, that various "serious errors" deprived him of a fair trial, Pet. at 15, contains no mention whatsoever of any consideration related to RAP 13.4(b). Instead, he asks this court for a do-over on assertions rejected first by the trial court and then by the Court of Appeals. This section of Bennett's Petition comprises the arguments he would make to this Court on review but says nothing about applicable conditions of RAP 13.4(b), conditions upon which review must be predicated. Bennett criticizes the logic by which Division Three reached a conclusion contrary to his arguments below. Pet. at 17. He again asserts the trial court's misstatement of the law when refusing "other suspect evidence," Pet. at 18, but ignores that Division Three based its conclusion on the correct standard: that Bennett failed to "present a combination of facts or circumstances pointing to a nonspeculative link between the other suspects and Lucille Moore's murder, having established only motive and opportunity. Bennett, No. 35297-8-III, slip op. at 34. Finally, Bennett asks this Court to accept review based on his disagreement with the findings of both the trial court and the Court of Appeals concerning his various allegations of prosecutorial misconduct. Pet. at 19–20.

These issues are all fact-bound and affect no other case or defendant. There is no broad-based issue of substantial public interest. The claim fails to meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

## IV. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Bennett's Petition for Review.